

PNNL- 34259

Just Transition Principles

Prepared for the APEC Energy Working Group Workshop on Promoting a Just Energy Transition

May 2023

Rebecca M Tapio Jay T Barlow Bethel W Tarekegne Cary Bloyd



Prepared for the U.S. Department of Energy under Contract DE-AC05-76RL01830

DISCLAIMER

This report was prepared as an account of work sponsored by an agency of the United States Government. Neither the United States Government nor any agency thereof, nor Battelle Memorial Institute, nor any of their employees, makes **any warranty, express or implied, or assumes any legal liability or responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, or usefulness of any information, apparatus, product, or process disclosed, or represents that its use would not infringe privately owned rights. Reference herein to any specific commercial product, process, or service by trade name, trademark, manufacturer, or otherwise does not necessarily constitute or imply its endorsement, recommendation, or favoring by the United States Government or any agency thereof, or Battelle Memorial Institute. The views and opinions of authors expressed herein do not necessarily state or reflect those of the United States Government or any agency thereof.**

PACIFIC NORTHWEST NATIONAL LABORATORY operated by BATTELLE for the UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY under Contract DE-AC05-76RL01830

Printed in the United States of America

Available to DOE and DOE contractors from the Office of Scientific and Technical Information, P.O. Box 62, Oak Ridge, TN 37831-0062; ph: (865) 576-8401 fax: (865) 576-5728 email: <u>reports@adonis.osti.gov</u>

Available to the public from the National Technical Information Service 5301 Shawnee Rd., Alexandria, VA 22312 ph: (800) 553-NTIS (6847) email: orders@ntis.gov <<u>https://www.ntis.gov/about</u>> Online ordering: <u>http://www.ntis.gov</u>

Just Transition Principles

Prepared for the APEC Energy Working Group Workshop on Promoting a Just Energy Transition

May 2023

Rebecca M Tapio Jay T Barlow Bethel W Tarekegne Cary Bloyd

Prepared for the U.S. Department of Energy under Contract DE-AC05-76RL01830

Pacific Northwest National Laboratory Richland, Washington 99354

Executive Summary

Across the world, many economies are lessening their reliance on fossil fuels for power and energy production and increasing their use of clean energy. This global energy transition impacts a number of sectors and can exacerbate existing socioeconomic and environmental inequities without targeted planning and action.

Just transition is an iterative, continuous process of moving toward a sustainable, resilient, and equitable economy that provides decent, productive, and ecologically responsible livelihoods; nurtures social dialogue; and fairly distributes costs and benefits of the energy system.

The member economies of the Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation (APEC), a multilateral and intergovernmental economic and trade forum committed to reducing trade barriers, represent significant portions of the world's population, global nominal gross domestic product, and world trade. The energy mix of APEC economies, which provided 59 percent of the world's total primary energy supply in 2020, is changing, even as new coal-fired power capacity is added.

This report offers just transition principles from international frameworks that are tailored for APEC economies and provides further points of consideration and examples illustrating how they can be applied in practice.

Principle	Description
1. Pursue positive environmental, social, and economic outcomes	Approach just transition as an opportunity for sustainable redevelopment. Remediate legacy sites to improve outcomes for people and the environment.
2. Deliver equitable benefits	Ensure an equitable distribution of benefits and costs of the energy transition. Evaluate how different groups will be impacted in the process.
3. Support inclusion and gender equity	Facilitate inclusion of marginalized groups and gender equity in workforce and decision-making. Prioritize gender-responsive transition plans to prevent gender-based discrimination.
4. Enable participatory decision- making	Lead transition initiatives in consultation with local stakeholders. Prioritize the development of bottom-up approaches that emphasize social dialogue. Include considerations for just transition in energy system planning and policies across the whole of government.
5. Create resilient firms, institutions, and communities	Incorporate resilience into climate adaptation and mitigation efforts. Enable local resilience along with international collaboration.
6. Provide support for labor and workforce development	Foster good livelihoods, develop demand-driven skills for labor- matching, and protect and enhance workers' rights. Ensure workers have a voice over decisions that affect them.
7. Safeguard community health	Integrate community health outcome targets in climate policies and programs. Support local clean energy access.
8. Protect the human rights of affected communities	Ensure human rights and protections for workers all along the transition supply chain. Support the unique needs of affected people, including indigenous and local communities, and preserve their right to self-determination.

Acknowledgments

This project was supported by the U.S. Department of Energy's Office of Asian Affairs. The authors wish to thank those who reviewed the report from the U.S. Department of Energy and U.S. Department of Labor for their thoughtful comments and suggestions.

Acronyms and Abbreviations

APEC	Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation
COP	Conference of the Parties
GDP	Gross domestic product
IRA	Inflation Reduction Act
ILO	International Labour Organization
POWER	Partnerships for Opportunity and Workforce and Economic Revitalization
PPWE	Policy Partnership for Women and the Economy
UNFCCC	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change

Contents

Execu	tive Su	Immary	ii
Ackno	wledgn	nents	iii
Acron	yms an	d Abbreviations	iv
1.0	Introd	luction	1
2.0	Globa	al State of Just Energy Transition Best Practices	6
	2.1	APEC Economy Energy Transition Commitments	8
3.0	Just E	Energy Transition Principles for APEC	9
	3.1	Pursue positive environmental, social, and economic outcomes	9
	3.2	Deliver equitable benefits	10
	3.3	Support inclusion and gender equity	11
	3.4	Enable participatory decision-making	11
	3.5	Create resilient firms, institutions, and communities	12
	3.6	Provide support for labor and workforce development	13
	3.7	Safeguard community health	13
:	3.8	Protect the human rights of affected communities	14
4.0	Concl	lusion	14
5.0	References		

Figures

Figure 1.	APEC region total primary energy supply, data from EGEDA (2023b). Fossil energy share comprises coal, coal products, crude oil, and natural gas. Non-fossil share calculated as total primary energy supply less fossil share.	1
Figure 2.	Coal-generating capacity additions and retirements in APEC region, data from Global Energy Monitor (2023a, 2023b)	2
Figure 3.	Installed renewable electricity capacity and APEC share, data from International Renewable Energy Agency (2022).	3
Figure 4.	Electricity generation mix by APEC economy in 2020, data from EGEDA (2023a).	4
Figure 5.	Global just transition frameworks.	7
Figure 6.	APEC economy decarbonization commitments (Lang et al. 2023)	8

Tables

Table 1.	Just transition principles.	5
----------	-----------------------------	---

1.0 Introduction

A global transition from fossil energy to clean energy is unfolding. *Just transition* is an iterative, continuous process of moving toward a sustainable, resilient, and equitable economy that provides decent, productive, and ecologically responsible livelihoods; nurtures social dialogue; and fairly distributes costs and benefits of the energy system. It is aimed at supporting affected workers along the supply chain and communities most affected by the energy transition. Though the Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation (APEC) region as a whole is largely representative of global energy transition trends, APEC's member economies – and communities within them – will have their own transition nuances. Approaches to just transition must therefore recognize both the global and the local transition dynamics.

The APEC region contains 38% of the world's population, generates 62% of global nominal gross domestic product (GDP), and accounts for 48% of world trade in goods and commercial services (APEC Policy Support Unit 2022a). Energy production and consumption in APEC are commensurate with these figures. APEC economies represented 59% of the world's total primary energy supply in 2020 (APEC Energy Working Group 2023) and approximately 50% of world's total final consumption in 2019¹ (APEC Energy Working Group 2023; International Energy Agency 2021a).

Fossil fuels dominate APEC's energy mix at 86% of total primary energy supply (Figure 1) and 75% of electricity generation (APEC Energy Working Group 2023).



Figure 1. APEC region total primary energy supply, data from EGEDA (2023b). Fossil energy share comprises coal, coal products, crude oil, and natural gas. Non-fossil share calculated as total primary energy supply less fossil share.

Coal deserves particular attention in APEC's energy story for several reasons. It is the largest component of the region's total primary energy supply (34%) and electricity generation (42%) (APEC Energy Working Group 2023). As a whole, the region continues to add capacity for coal-fired electricity generation, but at a decreasing rate (Figure 2). The slowing rate of additions may indicate an approaching peak. Significant coal power plant retirements and mine closures have

¹ Calculated as APEC total divided by world total, with latest available world data.

already occurred in the region, particularly in the United States. Coal communities may therefore be an initial focus of just transition efforts in APEC.



Figure 2. Coal-generating capacity additions and retirements in APEC region, data from Global Energy Monitor (2023a, 2023b).

Though fossil fuels dominate the current energy mix and the region continues to add coal capacity, APEC is experiencing accelerated growth in renewable energy. From 2010 to 2020, the share of renewable energy in the APEC region's final energy consumption rose from 6% to 9.5%, and in electricity generation from 16% to 25% (APEC Energy Working Group 2023). These trends are consistent with APEC's goal of doubling the share of renewable energy in the energy mix by 2030, compared to 2010 (APEC 2014)¹. Both the world and APEC are adding renewable electricity capacity at an increasing rate, and APEC's share of these additions has increased over the last 20 years, reaching 60% of global installed capacity in 2021 (Figure 3).²

¹ APEC's target defines modern renewables to include hydropower but exclude traditional biomass, which is combustion of woodfuels, agricultural by-products, and dung.

² The renewable electricity capacity statistics in this figure represent solar, wind, hydro, marine, geothermal, and bioenergy.



Figure 3. Installed renewable electricity capacity and APEC share, data from International Renewable Energy Agency (2022).

These simultaneous energy stories in the APEC region – historical fossil fuel predominance, potential fossil-fuel peaking, and renewable energy ascension – are indicative of the global energy transition. Fossil fuels dominate current world energy supply and demand, yet renewable energy is increasing steadily due to a number of forces, including falling costs and expanding government and corporate commitments for greenhouse gas emissions reductions. World scenarios based on current policies anticipate that demand for the three major fossil fuels will peak or plateau in the foreseeable future: coal in the coming years, natural gas by 2030, and oil by the mid-2030s (International Energy Agency 2022b). Increasing electrification of the transportation, industrial, and buildings sectors implies an expanded role for a clean¹ electricity grid. These global trajectories will affect APEC's energy story and its approach to just transition.

APEC is a collection of 21 member economies with varying characteristics. Just transition will likely take different forms in different economies. The APEC region contains both strong net energy exporters and importers, for which the shift to clean energy has different implications. Similarly, member economies have different energy mixes; some already have a significant share of renewable energy, while others use predominantly fossil energy, implying additional effort ahead for a clean and just energy transition. This variation is reflected in the electricity generation mixes across economies (Figure 4). APEC economies are also entering the energy transition from different development positions, with different development priorities. The diversity of APEC economies underscores that approaches to just transition must recognize local circumstances.

¹ Clean energy in this discussion refers to non-fossil and abated fossil fuel sources.



Figure 4. Electricity generation mix by APEC economy in 2020, data from EGEDA (2023a).

Just transition is a challenge and an opportunity. Fossil-fuel assets will be retired or redeveloped, in some cases before the designed end of their useful life. As fossil-fuel assets retire, there will be impacts on the associated jobs and communities. The loss of these local jobs and revenues can be significant, as they often provide local stability and identity. Clean energy jobs are not inherently a direct substitute for fossil-fuel jobs. They may be generated in different locations, last for different lengths of time, pay different wages, and have different multiplier effects in local economies, compared to the fossil fuel jobs impacted by the transition.

Simultaneously, clean energy growth creates new development and employment opportunities. In 2019, jobs in the energy sector (direct and indirect) represented 2% of global employment; half of these jobs were associated with clean energy, and this share is rising (International Energy Agency 2022a). Future world employment and GDP are both greater under modeled decarbonization scenarios, compared to reference scenarios (International Renewable Energy Agency 2018; International Energy Agency 2021b, 2022a).

The clean energy transition has the potential to achieve further benefits through reduced energy price volatility and reduced impacts to human and ecosystem health, if carried out consistent with principles of just transition.

APEC and its member economies are already addressing just transition. The APEC Finance Ministers' Process is addressing the specific actions of financing for just transition. This paper discusses overarching principles that can help guide the multi-sectoral approach to just transition more broadly. We build on previous work by APEC (APEC Policy Support Unit 2022b), its member economies, and others. A set of eight just transition principles (Table 1) were identified for discussion based on an interagency review of existing global just transition frameworks and best practices. Principles were expanded with points of consideration and examples relevant to APEC (see Section 3.0).

Principle	Description
1. Pursue positive environmental, social, and economic outcomes	Approach just transition as an opportunity for sustainable redevelopment. Remediate legacy sites to improve outcomes for people and the environment.
2. Deliver equitable benefits	Ensure an equitable distribution of benefits and costs of the energy transition. Evaluate how different groups will be impacted in the process.
3. Support inclusion and gender equity	Facilitate inclusion of marginalized groups and gender equity in workforce and decision-making. Prioritize gender-responsive transition plans to prevent gender-based discrimination.
4. Enable participatory decision- making	Lead transition initiatives in consultation with local stakeholders. Prioritize the development of bottom-up approaches that emphasize social dialogue. Include considerations for just transition in energy system planning and policies across the whole of government.
5. Create resilient firms, institutions, and communities	Incorporate resilience into climate adaptation and mitigation efforts. Enable local resilience along with international collaboration.
6. Provide support for labor and workforce development	Foster good livelihoods, develop demand-driven skills for labor- matching, and protect and enhance workers' rights. Ensure workers have a voice over decisions that affect them.
7. Safeguard community health	Integrate community health outcome targets in climate policies and programs. Support local clean energy access.
8. Protect the human rights of affected communities	Ensure human rights and protections for workers all along the transition supply chain. Support the unique needs of affected people, including indigenous and local communities, and preserve their right to self-determination.

Table 1. Just transition principles.

2.0 Global State of Just Energy Transition Best Practices

"A just transition for all towards an environmentally sustainable economy...needs to be well managed and contribute to the goals of decent work for all, social inclusion and the eradication of poverty."

International Labour Organization (2015)

"Taking into account the imperatives of a just transition of the workforce and the creation of decent work and quality jobs in accordance with nationally defined development priorities..."

Paris Agreement (2015)

Across the world, many economies are reducing their use of fossil fuel-generated power and expanding their deployment of renewable and clean energy sources. The global transition away from fossil fuels and toward the increasing use of clean sources of energy is not solely rising out of state actions to reduce the impacts of climate change. Prevailing macroeconomic conditions and technological advances have lowered the cost of renewable energy generation and improved competitiveness in energy markets around the world, including in economies where new coal capacity is being added.

The wide-ranging impacts of this energy transition present a number of opportunities, but one challenge is to avoid exacerbating existing social, economic, and environmental inequalities or creating new ones by incurring costs unfairly or failing to share the subsequent benefits. This is particularly true for economies in different stages of development, whose growth may rely on the extraction of raw materials and/or industrial processes that primarily benefit other parts of the world.

The emphasis on fairly distributed costs and benefits during major economic changes arose with the concept of a just transition in the United States during the labor movement of the 1970s (Henry et al. 2020). This focus was strengthened when labor groups aligned with environmental justice groups in the 1990s to enhance protections for quality jobs, workers, and the environment (Mazzochi 1993).

Just transition as a concept has been interpreted differently over the years. As it diffused through unions and federations in the 2000s, its use expanded in international sustainable development and climate negotiations. As just transition crystallized and gained mainstream use, decent jobs and equitable treatment of workers remained a central tenet (Morena et al. 2018).

In 2015, the International Labour Organization (ILO) and parties to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) recognized the importance of making the coming energy transition a just one. In October 2015, the ILO released guidelines for a just transition. Shortly thereafter, the Paris Agreement, an international climate change agreement, was adopted by 195 parties including all APEC economies that are currently United Nations member states (UNFCCC 2015). The Agreement seeks to limit global temperature increase to between 1.5°C and 2°C above pre-industrial levels by decreasing greenhouse gas emissions and to increase resilience to climate impacts (UNFCCC 2023). The preamble to the Agreement establishes the framing for the articles and includes an acknowledgement incorporating just transition. Momentum toward achieving global decarbonization milestones through a just transition has been building since late 2015, including the Katowice Climate Change Conference (UNFCCC Conference of the Parties 24) and the Glasgow Climate Change Conference (UNFCCC COP26).

In the intervening years, a number of international organizations have developed frameworks to address the competing challenges of secure and reliable energy; low and reasonable costs; and social, economic, and environmental priorities (Henry et al. 2020). They have identified important markers that make the energy transition just and equitable, a number of which are overlapping between the frameworks and some of which are unique based on the perspective of the establishing organization.

In the process of identifying underlying principles of just transition for this report, several prominent frameworks were analyzed to find themes that have informed policy and practice since 2015. These frameworks were developed by a variety of organizations, including the International Labour Organization, the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, the Stockholm Environment Institute, and the International Energy Agency. Other frameworks were created as part of international climate efforts. Figure 5 shows a timeline of their relative release dates.



Figure 5. Global just transition frameworks.

These frameworks were created to establish a shared understanding and meaning for just transition, and to provide policy guidance and recommendations for implementation (Reid and Lieuw-Kie-Song 2022). A number of common values were identified during the analysis of framework principles. All frameworks mentioned some form of social dialogue, decent jobs, and support for workers. The majority included information on tailoring approaches for the needs of specific communities (83%) and a focus on equity and inclusion (67%). Half indicated support for socioeconomic development and opportunities, while a third (33%) mentioned climate resilience and worker and/or human rights.

Each framework also included unique values that reflected the perspective of the specific organization. These ranged in scope from community renewal to a focus on innovation and shared technology; environmental concerns around decarbonization and remediation; financial considerations that include establishing just transition funds and avoiding carbon-lock in, stranded assets, and cost transfer from the private to the public sector; and elements of cooperation on the international level and within domestic policy environments.

2.1 APEC Economy Energy Transition Commitments

In addition to the broader economic forces accelerating the energy transition, the shift toward decarbonization is occurring in APEC economies as part of government-level climate and environmental policy. All APEC economies have committed to or are discussing some form of emissions reduction target.

Targets as defined by their economies of origin vary in phrasing and shared meaning, particularly in regard to whether measurement is in emissions by units of GDP and if all greenhouse gases are included in goals. These targets do not always mention equity actions or policies, indicating that decarbonization goals do not directly imply commitment to a just transition.

Thirteen economies have incorporated a target to reach net zero greenhouse gas emissions by a specific date either in law, policy documents, or other discussion (Figure 6). A number have committed to other goals, including an emissions reduction goal, carbon/greenhouse gas neutrality, or reduction targets against a specific emissions date. A number of APEC economies have yet to reach their estimated peak greenhouse gas emissions due to ongoing development; as a result, their laws and policies include target dates for reaching this peak in addition to projected dates of net zero emissions (Lang et al. 2023).



Figure 6. APEC economy decarbonization commitments (Lang et al. 2023).

APEC economies have engaged in various actions supporting a just transition, including social dialogue and stakeholder engagement; establishing government institutions to support the transition and ensure fairness and social inclusion; and creating high-level partnerships and commitments between governments, international governing bodies, and non-governmental organizations (Vasquez and Hernando 2022). The principles in the APEC Putrajaya Vision 2040 and the Aotearoa Plan of Action included sustainable and inclusive growth that promotes resilience, equity, human resource development, and a commitment to addressing climate change (APEC 2020a). In the 2022 Leaders' Declaration, APEC Leaders recognized that more intensive efforts are needed to address climate change and sustainable energy transitions that reduce greenhouse gas emissions.

3.0 Just Energy Transition Principles for APEC

For the purposes of discussion in ongoing APEC conversations, we define *just transition* as follows:

Just transition is an iterative, continuous process of moving toward a sustainable, resilient, and equitable economy that provides decent, productive, and ecologically responsible livelihoods; nurtures social dialogue; and fairly distributes costs and benefits of the energy system.

Following the above definition, principles for just transition were developed to balance the shared circumstances across APEC economies as well as their unique attributes. The principles are overlapping and synergistic, and function together as well-rounded considerations that can apply to the wide variation of conditions in these economies. Examples provided for each principle speak to these conditions and may offer ideas for future implementation during the energy transition.

The just transition principles identified for discussion are listed below, followed by detailed descriptions of each.

- 1. Pursue positive environmental, social, and economic outcomes.
- 2. Deliver equitable benefits.
- 3. Support inclusion and gender equity.
- 4. Enable participatory decision-making.
- 5. Create resilient firms, institutions, and communities.
- 6. Provide support for labor and workforce development.
- 7. Safeguard community health.
- 8. Protect the human rights of affected communities.

3.1 Pursue positive environmental, social, and economic outcomes

Approach just transition as an opportunity for sustainable redevelopment. Remediate legacy sites to improve outcomes for people and the environment.

Approaching energy transition as a redevelopment opportunity, rather than a retirement burden, is a fundamental shift that can open up the benefits of the transition. Though fossil fuel

retirements will have impacts on local communities, the transition to clean energy is expected to raise overall employment and GDP through new investment (International Renewable Energy Agency 2018). The shift from a fossil-based energy system and infrastructure to clean systems is an opportunity to incorporate environmental, social, and economic sustainability in new investments. Proper planning can identify how these opportunities can be directed to impacted communities.

Transitioning from fossil to clean energy goes a long way toward improving future outcomes by reducing carbon pollution, but additional action is necessary to assure improvements in local livelihoods and ecosystems. Remediating legacy sites can bring about environmental, social, and economic benefits. Remediation provides the near-term benefit of economic activity, and remediation jobs are often aligned with the skills and equipment of workers in transitioning fossil industries (Haggerty et al. 2018). Remediation can also deliver long-term benefits by attracting redevelopment or restoring natural ecosystems. Social benefits also arise by relieving local communities of legacy and future environmental burdens (Heffron and McCauley 2017).

There are existing examples within APEC of remediation as part of a just transition. Canada and the United States have programs to address orphan oil and gas wells, which can be significant sources of methane and other pollution (REGROW Act 2021; Government of British Columbia 2022). Plugging these wells therefore provides both global and local environmental benefits. The programs also employ workers with skills and equipment transferred from the oil and gas industry. The U.S. Energy Infrastructure Reinvestment loan guarantee program supports clean redevelopment of existing or former energy infrastructure and can support environmental remediation in connection with redevelopment (U.S. Department of Energy Loan Programs Office 2022).

3.2 Deliver equitable benefits

Ensure an equitable distribution of benefits and costs of the energy transition. Evaluate how different groups will be impacted in the process.

Energy transition offers positive impacts on the environment, economy, society, and the wellbeing of the population. These benefits could include lower emissions, cleaner air and reduced health-impacting pollutants, new jobs and economic opportunities, lower energy burden and enhanced energy efficiency, and reduced dependency on imported energy, among others. Just transition requires an equitable distribution of these benefits across the population. Designing implementation plans that deliver benefits equitably can ensure that no one is left behind in the transition.

The just transition principle of delivering equitable benefits also requires the identification of historical inequities in the energy system in order to repair past harm and avoid perpetuating inequities into the future. This proactive planning for equity will be more effective and cost efficient than taking a reactive approach to address disparities Hansen et al. (2022). APEC economies can deliver equitable benefits in the transition by providing access to reliable and clean energy for all, and by creating fair procedural mechanisms for communities to participate in energy sector decision-making.

Promoting equity is highlighted in APEC's Policy Support Unit study from 2022. The policy brief, titled "Transitioning to a sustainable economy while ensuring inclusion," describes just transition as a framework that maximizes "the advantages of transitioning to a low-carbon economy while promoting *equity* and inclusivity" (APEC Policy Support Unit 2022b). The U.S. Justice40

Initiative – a requirement of Executive Order 14008, "Tackling the Climate Crisis at Home and Abroad" – dedicates 40% of overall benefits of certain federal investments to flow to disadvantaged communities to ensure benefits are distributed equitably (The White House 2022b).

3.3 Support inclusion and gender equity

Facilitate inclusion of marginalized groups and gender equity in workforce and decision-making. Prioritize gender-responsive transition plans to prevent gender-based discrimination.

Gender equity is an essential element of a just transition. Taking the global workforce as an example, women account for only 16% of the traditional energy sector labor force and only 32% of the renewable energy sector jobs (IRENA 2019). This inclusion and gender equity principle follows APEC's La Serena Roadmap for Women and Inclusive Growth and the Policy Partnership for Women and the Economy (PPWE) key pillars on women empowerment, which include access to capital, access to market, skills and capacity building, women's leadership and agency, and innovation and technology (APEC 2023). An inclusive and gender-equitable transition will emphasize the need to address gender gaps in income, skills, jobs, and opportunities.

The need to pursue inclusion and gender equity stems from the understanding that participation of women is critical for a successful energy transition. Women are key drivers of innovative solutions and can spearhead efforts for a just transition (IEA 2018). As such, it is essential to remove barriers (be it legal or otherwise) for women so they can fully participate in the transition workforce and decision-making. In addition, efforts on inclusion should also emphasize the need to support and empower indigenous peoples, people with disabilities, and remote and rural communities. APEC economies can adopt targeted policies and set implementation plans that accelerate the participation of women and other groups with untapped economic potential in the clean energy sector (i.e., "equal opportunity, equal pay, and equal leadership") (IEA 2018).

Where the APEC PPWE pillars provide the basis for gender equity (APEC 2023), APEC's Aoteaora Plan of Action describes what it means to advance inclusion beyond gender. The Plan of Action states, "APEC's growth is high quality and inclusive, bringing palpable benefits and greater health and wellbeing to MSMEs, women and others with untapped economic potential, such as indigenous peoples as appropriate, people with disabilities, and those from remote and rural communities" (APEC 2021b). While these APEC resources are good examples for inclusion and gender equity, there are additional external resources to reference for best practices. Goal 5 of the United Nations' Sustainable Development Goals provides an overarching guiding principle that aims to "achieve gender equality and empower all women and girls by 2030" (United Nations 2022). The European Bank for Reconstruction and Development's Strategy for the Promotion of Gender Equality 2021-2025 offers three focus areas for supporting gender equity: providing gender-responsive financial systems, promoting skills and sustainable livelihoods, and ensuring access to inclusive public services (EBRD 2021).

3.4 Enable participatory decision-making

Lead transition initiatives in consultation with local stakeholders. Prioritize the development of bottom-up approaches that emphasize social dialogue. Include considerations for just transition in energy system planning and policies across the whole of government.

Incorporating stakeholders from affected communities and representative groups into decisionmaking during the just transition can provide a number of benefits. This participation can provide knowledge shared by experts based on their local experiences that is otherwise unobtainable, legitimize policies in the eyes of the public, and improve buy-in from communities that are directly impacted by or involved in implementing the energy transition (Godfrey and Chen 2022).

Stakeholder involvement can also help assure that vulnerable workers and indigenous peoples are represented in policy and implementation actions. Building on local knowledge has the added benefit of improving institutional resilience, in which an economy's ability to manage change and its capacity to deliver results "credibly, legitimately, and adaptively" (Anderson and Tollenaere 2020).

To facilitate a phase-out of coal-powered electricity, Canada established the Task Force on Just Transition for Canadian Coal Power Workers and Communities, which brought together representatives from the public, private, labor, government, and academic sectors to engage with community members and workers. The task force identified impacts, opportunities, and funding streams, and made recommendations for supporting them during the energy transition (Government of Canada 2019).

3.5 Create resilient firms, institutions, and communities

Incorporate resilience into climate adaptation and mitigation efforts. Enable local resilience along with international collaboration.

Resilience – the ability to withstand and recover from shocks – is now recognized as integral to both climate adaptation and mitigation. Climate-resilient development pathways are strengthened by the involvement of civil society, government, and the private sector (Schipper et al. 2022) and involve both local and global resilience.

The energy transition is likely to bring strong resilience benefits to local communities. Distributed energy resources, including renewable energy and storage, are expected to improve energy system resilience (Moreno et al. 2022; Maharjan et al. 2015) and simultaneously support climate mitigation. Reduced reliance on fossil fuels also reduces susceptibility to price and supply shocks. This benefits individuals and organizations and may especially benefit APEC member economies that are net fossil fuel importers.

Global resilience can be strengthened through continued international collaboration. Dispersed supply chains and trade relationships can enhance resilience, as can corporate procurement policies that include a focus on just transition principles of resilient and equitable investment. When harmonized across member economies, these policies can be a force for supporting climate-resilient goods and services (Prattico 2019). International knowledge sharing can also foster resilience through exchange of practices and experiences that may improve the resilience of other member economies in the energy transition.

Resilience principles are reflected in APEC's Putrajaya Vision 2040, adopted in 2020, which calls for an "open, dynamic, resilient and peaceful Asia-Pacific community" (APEC 2020b). Resilience is reiterated in the 2022 Bangkok Goals on Bio-Circular-Green Economy, where it is integrated with reference to supply chains, energy security, and climate adaptation and mitigation (APEC 2022).

3.6 Provide support for labor and workforce development

Foster good livelihoods, develop demand-driven skills for labor-matching, and protect and enhance workers' rights.

It is important to understand how the energy transition impacts communities and workers in relation to jobs, income, local revenue, and economic development. Although energy-related jobs are projected to grow globally, with an estimated 26 million additional jobs by 2030 (Õunmaa 2021), the energy transition will still cause job losses and a decline in tax revenue from fossil-fuel-intensive activities. Even when replacement jobs are available, they might result in a skills mismatch and lower wages, or require relocation. As such, the economies, workers, and communities that stand to bear these losses will need support to assure that their livelihoods and quality of life are maintained fairly in the transition.

A just transition must advance policies and programs that develop demand-driven skills and workers' prospects. Initiatives that utilize local educational institutions for upskilling/re-skilling workers, work-based learning opportunities, and incentivizing employers to invest in affected regions would help produce equitable labor outcomes. It is also equally important to explore opportunities for rehiring and transitioning workers to different activities within their current firms. Local economic development can be improved by place-based policies that redevelop and repurpose assets for community revitalization.

The benefits provided by the U.S. Inflation Reduction Act (IRA) are examples of how to support workers and facilitate regional economic development. The IRA includes tax credits for projects that are sited in an energy community and has requirements for wages and apprenticeship to foster good quality jobs (The White House 2022a). The Partnerships for Opportunity and Workforce and Economic Revitalization (POWER) initiative is another example of a U.S. federal investment mechanism that supports regional economic growth and re-employment of affected workers (EDA 2016). Japan's green growth strategy plans to employ thousands of workers in clean energy industries (METI 2021).

3.7 Safeguard community health

Integrate community health outcome targets in climate policies and programs. Support local clean energy access.

The energy transition can help mitigate health inequities that are exacerbated by climate change. Communities that experience the first and worst impacts of climate change often face a combination of social, economic, health, and environmental inequities. Air pollution from burning coal, oil, natural gas, and other fuels is responsible for the deaths of 8 million people worldwide each year (Karn Vohra 2021). Communities impacted most by air pollution are those that are already vulnerable: people with chronic medical conditions, women, people with underlying health issues, and low-income populations. These affected communities can achieve improved health outcomes if fossil fuels are replaced by renewable power. The benefits of improving air quality are tangible, immediate, and monetizable – especially when considered in combination with other benefits of clean energy transitions such as decarbonization, environmental justice, and achieving sustainable development goals.

Moving away from reliance on fossil fuels would not only benefit community health, but would also support improvement in socio-economic conditions. As such, the principle of safeguarding community health requires the implementation of programs that advance energy efficiency,

affordable alternative forms of energy in vulnerable communities (e.g., localized power with distributed energy resources/microgrids), and the prioritization of improved health outcomes in climate policies and energy transition efforts including setting standards for occupational health protection and safety.

APEC's High Level Meeting in 2021 on Health and the Economy confirmed the importance of incorporating health equity into funding decisions (APEC 2021a), affirming the recognition that support for community health helps build social and human capital. The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency's Intergovernmental Working Group on Environmental Justice is another example of an effort to mitigate adverse human health impacts while increasing local community capacity (EPA 2022).

3.8 Protect the human rights of affected communities

Ensure human rights and protections for workers all along the transition supply chain. Support the unique needs of affected people, including indigenous and local communities, and preserve their right to self-determination.

Achieving the decarbonization goals of the energy transition will call for a vast expansion in the manufacturing and production of clean energy technology, much of which incorporates minerals that must be extracted from deposits around the world (Arrobas et al. 2017). Enforcing conditions for workers and human rights includes the responsibility of states to protect against abuse within their jurisdiction and take "appropriate steps to prevent, investigate, punish and redress such abuse through effective policies, legislation, regulations and adjudication," per the United Nations' Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights (United Nations 2011).

Human rights in the just transition span a wide arc of actions, including improved safety regulations, environmental protections and waste management, labor rights, and due diligence from early in the supply chain to the finished goods to account for the rights of people involved in production and manufacturing (United Nations 2011). To avoid replicating the inequities associated with a fossil-fuel-based economy, the just transition should account for the needs of indigenous and local communities and incorporate them throughout the design, planning, and implementation process. This includes establishing grievance mechanisms and complying with principles of free prior and informed consent and ensuring that community voices are valued in decision making.

The New Zealand Confederation of Trade Unions incorporated the perspective of Māori indigenous and treaty rights, knowledge, and customs while developing climate change policy to reflect and respect Māori as rights-holders who disproportionately work in industries affected by climate change (Smith 2017).

4.0 Conclusion

The just transition principles described in this report can help inform work that assures the current energy transition, and its future iterations, are fair and equitable. We understand these are not a set list of principles, and the list could be modified with additional inputs as new information arises. Each of the principles presented here and its associated examples provide potential options for implementation plans that can advance the just transition concept from a guiding framework to actionable next steps.

The process of implementing just transition principles is multi-faceted. Implementation approaches should be tailored to the unique social, economic, and environmental circumstances of APEC member economies and their respective regional and local community perspectives. Further effort and coordination with stakeholders of all levels is vital to ensuring a just energy transition.

5.0 References

- Anderson, C., and M. D. Tollenaere. 2020. Development Co-Operation Report 2020: Learning from Crises, Building Resilience. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/f6d42aa5-en</u>.
- APEC. 2014. "2014 APEC Energy Ministerial Meeting." Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation. <u>https://www.apec.org/meeting-papers/sectoral-ministerial-</u> <u>meetings/energy/2014_energy</u>.
- APEC. 2020a. APEC Putrajaya Vision 2040. <u>https://www.apec.org/meeting-papers/leaders-declarations/2020/2020_aelm/annex-a</u>.
- APEC. 2020b. "APEC Putrajaya Vision 2040." Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation <u>https://www.apec.org/meeting-papers/leaders-declarations/2020/2020_aelm/annex-a</u>.
- APEC. 2021a. "2021 APEC High Level Meeting on Health and the Economy." https://www.apec.org/Meeting-Papers/Sectoral-Ministerial-Meetings/Health/2021.
- APEC. 2021b. "Strong, Balanced, Secure, Sustainable and Inclusive Growth." <u>https://aotearoaplanofaction.apec.org/strong-balanced-secure-sustainable-and-inclusive-growth.html</u>.
- APEC. 2022. "Bangkok Goals on Bio-Circular-Green (Bcg) Economy." Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation. <u>https://www.apec.org/meeting-papers/leaders-declarations/2022/2022-leaders-declaration/bangkok-goals-on-bio-circular-green-(bcg)-economy.</u>
- APEC. 2023. "Policy Partnership on Women and the Economy." <u>https://www.apec.org/groups/som-steering-committee-on-economic-and-technical-</u> <u>cooperation/working-groups/policy-partnership-on-women-and-the-economy</u>.
- APEC Energy Working Group. 2023. APEC Energy Statistics 2020. EGEDA Secretariat, Energy Statistics and Training Office,
- Asia Pacific Energy Research Centre. <u>https://www.apec.org/docs/default-</u> <u>source/publications/2023/apec-regional-trends-analysis-february-2023-update/apec-</u> energy-statistics-2020/223_ewg_apec-statistics-2020.pdf?sfvrsn=d6e3126b_2.
- APEC Policy Support Unit. 2022a. APEC in Charts 2022. APEC Secretariat. https://www.apec.org/publications/2022/11/apec-in-charts-2022.
- APEC Policy Support Unit. 2022b. *Transitioning to a Sustainable Economy While Ensuring Inclusion*. Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation. <u>https://www.apec.org/docs/default-</u> <u>source/publications/2022/12/transitioning-to-a-sustainable-economy-while-ensuring-</u> <u>inclusion/222_psu_transitioning-to-a-sustainable-economy-while-ensuring-</u> <u>inclusion.pdf?sfvrsn=1dfa7c7a_2</u>.
- Arrobas, D. L. P., K. L. Hund, M. S. Mccormick, J. Ningthoujam, and J. R. Drexhage. 2017. *The Growing Role of Minerals and Metals for a Low Carbon Future.* World Bank Group. <u>http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/207371500386458722/The-Growing-Role-of-Minerals-and-Metals-for-a-Low-Carbon-Future</u>.
- EBRD. 2021. *Ebrd's Strategy for the Promotion of Gender Equality 2021-2025.* <u>https://www.ebrd.com/gender-strategy.html</u>.
- EDA. 2016. "The Partnerships for Opportunity and Workforce and Economic Revitalization (Power) Initiatve." <u>https://www.eda.gov/archives/2016/power/</u>.
- EGEDA. 2023a. Annual Data, Electricity Power Generation (New Format). https://www.egeda.ewg.apec.org/egeda/database_info/annual_data.html.
- EGEDA. 2023b. Annual Data, Primary Energy Supply (New Format).
- EPA. 2022. "Federal Interagency Working Group on Environmental Justice (Ej lwg)." <u>https://www.epa.gov/environmentaljustice/federal-interagency-working-group-environmental-justice-ej-iwg</u>.

- Global Energy Monitor. 2023a. Newly Operating Coal Plants by Year, 2000-2022 (MW). https://globalenergymonitor.org/projects/global-coal-plant-tracker/summary-tables/.
- Global Energy Monitor. 2023b. Retired Coal Plants, 2000-2022 (MW). https://globalenergymonitor.org/projects/global-coal-plant-tracker/summary-tables/.
- Godfrey, J., and E. Chen. 2022. Social Dialogue as a Tool to Address Labour Market Challenges. Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation Human Resource and Development Working Group. <u>https://www.apec.org/publications/2022/07/social-dialogue-as-a-tool-to-address-labour-market-challenges</u>.
- Government of British Columbia. 2022. "Dormant Sites Reclamation Program." <u>https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/industry/natural-gas-oil/responsible-oil-gas-development/dormant-sites-reclamation-program</u>.
- Government of Canada. 2019. "Task Force: Just Transition for Canadian Coal Power Workers and Communities." <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/environment-climate-</u> change/services/climate-change/task-force-just-transition.html.
- Haggerty, J. H., M. N. Haggerty, K. Roemer, and J. Rose. 2018. "Planning for the Local Impacts of Coal Facility Closure: Emerging Strategies in the U.S. West." *Resources Policy* 57: 69-80. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resourpol.2018.01.010</u>.
- Hansen, J., W. Jenson, A. Wrobel, N. Stauff, K. Biegel, T. Kim, R. Belles, and R. Omitaomu. 2022. Investigating Benefits and Challenges of Converting Retiring Coal Plants into Nuclear Plants.

https://fuelcycleoptions.inl.gov/SiteAssets/SitePages/Home/C2N2022Report.pdf.

- Heffron, R. J., and D. McCauley. 2017. "The Concept of Energy Justice across the Disciplines." Energy Policy 105: 658-667. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2017.03.018.
- Henry, M. S., M. D. Bazilian, and C. Markuson. 2020. "Just Transitions: Histories and Futures in a Post-Covid World." *Energy Research & Social Science* 68. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2020.101668.
- IEA. 2018. "Gender Diversity in Energy Sector Is Critical to Clean Energy Transition." <u>https://www.iea.org/commentaries/gender-diversity-in-energy-sector-is-critical-to-clean-energy-transition</u>.
- International Energy Agency. 2021a. *Key World Energy Statistics 2021*. International Energy Agency. <u>https://iea.blob.core.windows.net/assets/52f66a88-0b63-4ad2-94a5-</u> 29d36e864b82/KeyWorldEnergyStatistics2021.pdf.
- International Energy Agency. 2021b. Net Zero by 2050: A Roadmap for the Global Energy Sector. International Energy Agency. <u>https://iea.blob.core.windows.net/assets/deebef5d-0c34-4539-9d0c-10b13d840027/NetZeroby2050-</u> ARoadmapfortheGlobalEnergySector_CORR.pdf.
- International Energy Agency. 2022a. *World Energy Employment Report.* International Energy Agency. <u>https://iea.blob.core.windows.net/assets/a0432c97-14af-4fc7-b3bf-</u> <u>c409fb7e4ab8/WorldEnergyEmployment.pdf</u>.
- International Energy Agency. 2022b. *World Energy Outlook 2022.* <u>https://www.iea.org/reports/world-energy-outlook-2022</u>.
- International Renewable Energy Agency. 2018. *Global Energy Transformation: A Roadmap to 2050.* International Renewable Energy Agency Abu Dhabi. <u>https://www.irena.org/_/media/Files/IRENA/Agency/Publication/2018/Apr/IRENA_Report_GET_2018.pdf</u>.
- International Renewable Energy Agency. 2022. Installed Renewable Electricity Capacity (MW) by Region/Country/Area, Technology and Year. <u>https://pxweb.irena.org/pxweb/en/IRENASTAT/IRENASTAT_Power%20Capacity%20a</u> nd%20Generation/RECAP_2022_cycle2.px/.
- IRENA. 2019. "Gender Equality for an Inclusive Energy Transition." <u>https://www.irena.org/news/articles/2019/Jan/Gender-equality-for-an-inclusive-energy-transition</u>.

- Karn Vohra, A. V., Joel Schwartz, Eloise Marais, Melissa Sulprizio, Loretta Mickley. 2021. "Global Mortality from Outdoor Fine Particle Pollution Generated by Fossil Fuel Combustion: Results from Geos-Chem." *Environmental Research* 195. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0013935121000487.
- Lang, J., C. Hyslop, Z. Y. Yeo, R. Black, P. Chalkley, T. Hale, F. Hans, N. Hay, N. Höhne, A. Hsu, T. Kuramochi, S. Mooldijk, and S. Smith. 2023. Net Zero Tracker. Energy and Climate Intelligence Unit, Data-Driven EnviroLab, NewClimate Institute, Oxford Net Zero. https://zerotracker.net/.
- Maharjan, S., Y. Zhang, S. Gjessing, Ø. Ulleberg, and F. Eliassen. 2015. "Providing Microgrid Resilience During Emergencies Using Distributed Energy Resources." IEEE Globecom Workshops, San Diego, CA. <u>https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/abstract/document/7414031</u>.
- Mazzochi, T. 1993. "An Answer to the Jobs-Environment Conflict?". Green Left. Accessed 4/27. https://www.greenleft.org.au/content/answer-jobs-environment-conflict.
- METI. 2021. "Overview of Japan's Green Growth Strategy through Achieving Carbon Neutrality in 2050." <u>https://www.mofa.go.jp/files/100153688.pdf</u>.
- Morena, E., D. Stevis, R. Shelton, D. Krause, H. Mertins-Kirkwood, V. Price, D. Azzi, and N. Helmerich. 2018. *Mapping Just Transition(S) to a Low-Carbon World.* Just Transition Research Collaborative, United Nations Research Institute for Social Development, Rosa Luxemburg Stiftung, University of London. <u>https://www.uncclearn.org/wp-content/uploads/library/report-jtrc-2018.pdf</u>.
- Moreno, R., D. N. Trakas, M. Jamieson, M. Panteli, P. Mancarella, G. Strbac, C. Marnay, and N. Hatziargyriou. 2022. "Microgrids against Wildfires: Distributed Energy Resources Enhance System Resilience." *IEEE Power and Energy Magazine* 20 (1): 78-89. https://doi.org/10.1109/mpe.2021.3122772.
- Õunmaa, L. 2021. "What Are the Socio-Economic Impacts of an Energy Transition?". https://www.undp.org/eurasia/blog/what-are-socio-economic-impacts-energy-transition.
- Prattico, E. 2019. "Sharing the Burden of Climate Change Via Climate Finance and Business Models." In *Routledge Handbook of Climate Justice*, edited by T. U. C. o. G. C. University. New York: Taylor and Francis Group.
- REGROW Act. 2021. "U.S. S1076 Revive Economic Growth and Reclaim Orphaned Wells Act of 2021." Last Modified April 12, 2021. <u>https://www.congress.gov/bill/117thcongress/senate-bill/1076</u>.
- Reid, H., and M. Lieuw-Kie-Song. 2022. *Just Transition Policy Brief: Green Works to Support a Just Transition.* International Labour Organization. <u>https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_emp/---</u> <u>emp_ent/documents/publication/wcms_860571.pdf</u>.
- Schipper, E. L. F., A. Revi, B. L. Preston, E. R. Carr, S. H. Eriksen, B. C. L.R. Fernandez-Carril, N. J. M. Glavovic, D. L. Hilmi, R. Mukerji, M. S. M. d. Araujo, R. Perez, S. K. Rose, and P. K. Singh. 2022. "Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability: Contribution of Working Group Ii to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.". Cambridge University Press. <u>https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg2/chapter/chapter-18/</u>.
- Smith, S. 2017. Just Transition: A Report for the Oecd. Just Transition Centre. <u>https://www.oecd.org/env/cc/g20-climate/collapsecontents/Just-Transition-Centre-report-just-transition.pdf</u>.
- The White House. 2022a. "Clean Energy Tax Provisions in the Inflation Reduction Act." <u>https://www.whitehouse.gov/cleanenergy/clean-energy-tax-provisions/</u>.
- The White House. 2022b. "Justice40 a Whole-of-Government Initiative." <u>https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/presidential-actions/2021/01/27/executive-order-on-tackling-the-climate-crisis-at-home-and-abroad/</u>.

- U.S. Department of Energy Loan Programs Office. 2022. "The Energy Infrastructure Reinvestment (EIR) Program." <u>https://www.energy.gov/lpo/articles/deploydeploydeploy-</u> 2-energy-infrastructure-reinvestment-eir-program.
- UNFCCC. 2015. "The Paris Agreement." In COP 21. Paris Climate Change Conference -November 2015, 11/29/15. https://unfccc.int/process-and-meetings/the-paris-agreement.
- UNFCCC. 2023. "Key Aspects of the Paris Agreement." Accessed 4/27. <u>https://unfccc.int/most-requested/key-aspects-of-the-paris-agreement</u>.
- United Nations. 2011. Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights: Implementing the United Nations "Protect, Respect and Remedy" Framework. <u>https://www.ohchr.org/sites/default/files/Documents/Publications/GuidingPrinciplesBusin</u> essHR_EN.pdf.
- United Nations. 2022. "The Sustainable Development Goals Report." <u>https://unstats.un.org/sdgs/report/2022/The-Sustainable-Development-Goals-Report-2022.pdf</u>.
- Vasquez, G. N. A., and R. C. Hernando. 2022. *Transitioning to a Sustainable Economy While Ensuring Inclusion*. APEC Policy Support Unit. <u>https://www.apec.org/publications/2022/12/transitioning-to-a-sustainable-economy-while-ensuring-inclusion</u>.

Pacific Northwest National Laboratory

902 Battelle Boulevard P.O. Box 999 Richland, WA 99354

1-888-375-PNNL (7665)

www.pnnl.gov